

0175 CONTRACTS WITH INDEPENDENT CONSULTANTS

The Board of Education may from time to time engage the services of one or more independent contractors to advise and assist the Board in analyzing school district operations and preparing Board reports when those tasks cannot be performed as economically by district staff members.

Wherever possible, the Board will seek proposals from at least **two** sources before a contract with an independent consultant is entered. The Board will not contract with a Board member or the spouse, child, parent(s) or legal guardian(s), or sibling, in fact or in law, of a Board member as an independent consultant.

The Board will engage the services of an independent consultant only by written contract, which must specify the work to be accomplished by the consultant, the time within which the work is to be completed, and the fee that will be paid the consultant. An independent consultant engaged by the Board is neither agent nor employee of the Board and may represent the Board only as expressly authorized to do so in writing.

An independent consultant may have access to such school facilities and school district employees as may be reasonably required in the performance of the consultant's contract with the Board. Except as expressly permitted by the contract, any communication between the consultant and a district employee or community member regarding the work of the contract must be conducted through the Board or a designated school official.

Materials and reports generated and created by the independent consultant in the performance of his/her contract with the Board are and will remain the property of the Board and are subject to Board Policy No. 8310 on public records.

Adopted: July 21, 2026

1110 ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

A copy of the organizational chart can be found in the Superintendent's Office.

Adopted: July 21, 2026

POLICY GUIDE

ADMINISTRATION
1230/page 1 of 5
Superintendent's Duties
July 26
M

[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 192 and 237]

1230 SUPERINTENDENT'S DUTIES

Function

The Superintendent shall serve as Chief Executive and Administrative Officer of the **school** district by implementing policies established by the Board of Education and by discharging the duties imposed on **their** ~~his/her~~ office by law.

Authority

The Superintendent shall be the Chief School Administrator of the school district and **principal** ~~principle~~ advisor to the Board. **The Superintendent** ~~He/She~~ may delegate to an appropriate school official any duty not reserved to the Superintendent by law, ~~but may not delegate the responsibility for duties mandated by law.~~

Work Relationships

The Superintendent shall report directly to the Board and shall directly or indirectly supervise all persons employed by the Board.

Duties and Responsibilities

- A. In the discharge of **their** ~~his/her~~ responsibility as **principal** ~~principle~~ advisor to the Board, the Superintendent shall:
1. Ensure all aspects of **school** district operations comply with Board policy **and regulation, Federal and** State law, and **school** district contracts;
 2. Report to the Board on the needs of the **school** district;
 3. Advise the Board of any **revisions** ~~changes~~ or additions that should be made to its policies **and regulations**;
 4. Provide the Board with ~~such~~ information as may be needed to ensure ~~the making of~~ informed decisions **are made by the Board**; and
 5. Perform other duties as may be assigned by the Board.



POLICY GUIDE

ADMINISTRATION
1230/page 2 of 5
Superintendent's Duties

- B. In the discharge of **their** ~~his/her~~ responsibility for the implementation of the operational action plan of the **school** district, the Superintendent shall:
1. Prepare, promulgate, and maintain a manual of **Board policies and administrative** regulations;
 2. Evaluate the future needs of the **school** district and recommend a **school** district action plan including goals, objectives, and priorities to the Board; **and**
 3. ~~Maintain written objectives to implement the district action plan adopted by the Board;~~
 4. ~~Evaluate progress toward the attainment of the district action plan and report thereon to the Board; and~~
35. Report to the **United States Department of Education and the New Jersey Department of Education, the New Jersey Commissioner of Education, and the Executive County Superintendent as required** ~~on or before August 1 of each year matters relating to the schools in the manner and form prescribed by the Commissioner.~~
- C. In the discharge of **their** ~~his/her~~ responsibility as the administrator of the instructional program, the Superintendent shall:
1. Establish and maintain a written instructional plan for the schools of the **school** district consistent with the educational goals adopted by the Board;
 2. Coordinate the proper implementation of the instructional plan as it applies to each school in the **school** district;
 3. Evaluate at least annually the effectiveness of the program of studies and recommend ~~such~~ changes and additions ~~as may be required~~ to improve its effectiveness;
 4. Evaluate the performance of students in relation to other public school districts, as well as in relation to State and national standards;



POLICY GUIDE

ADMINISTRATION
1230/page 3 of 5
Superintendent's Duties

5. Report periodically to the Board, as directed by the Board, on the condition of the educational program and facilities in the **school** district; and
 6. Keep informed regarding current research in the field of education and inform the Board as appropriate.
- D. In the discharge of **their** ~~his/her~~ responsibility for the direction and welfare of students, the Superintendent shall:
1. Strive to motivate students to achieve their individual best;
 2. Create a climate of respect for authority and discipline in each of the schools of the **school** district; **and**
 3. ~~Report to the Board at its next meeting the suspension of a student; and~~
 34. Recommend any changes in the program of student management and support ~~as necessary~~ to respond to **school** district needs.
- E. In the discharge of **their** ~~his/her~~ responsibility for the supervision of **school** district employees, the Superintendent shall:
1. Recommend to the Board all properly certified candidates for employment, assignment, or transfer;
 2. Assign staff ~~so~~ as to achieve maximum effectiveness in the attainment of educational goals;
 3. Train staff ~~as necessary~~ to implement approved changes in the curriculum or instructional methods of the **school** district;
 4. Evaluate the effectiveness of staff ~~members~~ in the performance of their assigned tasks;
 5. Recommend changes in staffing patterns based on the evaluation of staff and program effectiveness; and
 6. Discipline staff ~~as required~~ and report to the Board ~~forthwith~~ any suspension of a ~~teaching~~ staff member.



POLICY GUIDE

ADMINISTRATION
1230/page 4 of 5
Superintendent's Duties

- F. In the discharge of **their** ~~his/her~~ responsibility for the maintenance of the **school buildings and grounds** ~~physical plant~~, the Superintendent shall:
1. Strive to make efficient use of **school** district resources in the daily operations of the schools;
 2. Assign support staff ~~so as~~ to achieve maximum effectiveness from the **school buildings and grounds** ~~facilities~~ of the **school** district;
 3. Train support staff ~~as necessary~~ to maintain the **school buildings and grounds** ~~facilities~~ and to avoid safety and environmental hazards; and
 4. Evaluate the effectiveness of the **school** district's **school buildings and grounds** ~~facilities~~ in housing the instructional program and recommend to the Board ~~such~~ changes and improvements ~~as may be required~~.
- G. In the discharge of **their** ~~his/her~~ responsibility for the management of the **school** district business affairs, the Superintendent shall:
1. Supervise the preparation of the annual budget and recommend its adoption to the Board;
 2. Implement the budget adopted by the Board;
 3. Establish sufficient fiscal controls to ensure that **school** district funds are expended wisely and efficiently; and
 4. Report to the Board at its next meeting any expenditure in excess of a budgeted line item.
- H. In the discharge of **their** ~~his/her~~ responsibility as liaison officer to the public, the Superintendent shall:
1. Strive to interpret the needs of the school **district** to the public and the concerns of the public to the Board;
 2. As appropriate, involve members of the public in the review of **school** district needs, community needs, and the operation of the school **district's** programs;



POLICY GUIDE

ADMINISTRATION
1230/page 5 of 5
Superintendent's Duties

3. Keep the public informed about the accomplishments and challenges of the school district;
4. Cooperate with the news media; and
5. Work effectively with municipal government officials and public agencies concerned with the welfare of students.

Evaluation Criteria

The Superintendent will be evaluated in accordance with Policy No. 1240 and **the Board-approved** this job description.

N.J.S.A. 18A:7A-11.; 18A:17-17.; 18A:17-18.; 18A:17-20.; 18A:17-21.;
18A:22-8.1.; 18A:27-4.1.; 18A:37-4.
N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.1; 6A:32-4.1; ~~6A:32-12.2~~

Adopted: July 21, 2026



POLICY GUIDE

PROGRAM
2200/page 1 of 5
Curriculum Content
July 26
M

[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 209, 233, and 237]

2200 CURRICULUM CONTENT

In accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.1, the Board of Education shall ensure curriculum and instruction are designed and delivered in such a way that all students are able to demonstrate the knowledge and skills specified by the New Jersey Student Learning Standards (NJSLS). The Board also shall ensure that appropriate instructional adaptations are designed and delivered for students with disabilities, for multilingual learners (ML), for students enrolled in alternative education programs, and for students identified as gifted and talented.

The words and terms used in this Policy shall have the meanings as defined in N.J.A.C. 6A:8-1.3.

The Board shall encourage the active involvement of representatives from the community, including representatives from the local workforce and higher education, in the development of educational programs aligned with the NJSLS. The Board shall make all approved curriculum pacing guides and citations for core instructional materials publicly available pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.1(a)3.

The Board shall be responsible for the progress of all students in developing the knowledge and skills specified by the NJSLS, including all content areas not currently included in the Statewide assessment program.

The Board shall be responsible for the delivery of educational programs at all grade levels in the district using a coherent sequence of activities to prepare all students for college, careers, and civic life upon their graduation. Examples of such programs include, but are not limited to, academic programs; career and technical education programs; two-way bilingual immersion; heritage language education; and/or magnet programs. The Board shall implement educational programs that prepare all students for success in college, careers, and civic life, including, if applicable, the Kindergarten through grade eight development of academic skills integral to success in high school courses. When applicable, the Board shall provide students with access to advanced coursework. The Board shall develop, implement, and regularly evaluate strategies that identify, support, and encourage all student groups to enroll in and succeed in advanced coursework.



POLICY GUIDE

PROGRAM
2200/page 2 of 5
Curriculum Content

In accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.2, the Board shall provide all students enrolled in the district with the opportunity to attain the goals of an NJSLs-based curriculum in an educational environment that is designed to meet their needs. The Board shall create curriculum, customize instructional adaptations, allocate resources to provide equitable access to courses, programs, and experiences, and build student-centered learning environments that meet the NJSLs. The Board shall provide all students with disabilities an educational program aligned with the NJSLs, as well as the required individualized accommodations, instructional adaptations, and/or modifications as specified in a student's IEP or 504 plan. The Board shall be responsible for identifying students as gifted and talented and shall provide them with appropriate instructional adaptations and services as defined at N.J.S.A. 18A:35-35. The Board shall provide language instruction educational programs in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:15.

In accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.3, the Board shall actively assist and support professional learning for teachers, educational services staff, and school leaders, including the district's plan and additional professional learning requirements at N.J.A.C. 6A:9C-3.

The Board shall provide to teachers, educational services staff, and school leaders professional learning on the following, when applicable:

1. The use of student and school performance data to provide insights into the strengths and areas for growth to improve the quality of instruction that students receive;
2. Evidence-based literacy instruction in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:6-142. through 18A:6-150.;
3. The content knowledge, instructional strategies, and collaborative skills needed to meet the needs of students with disabilities required at N.J.A.C. 6A:14;
4. The needs and educational development of students identified as gifted and talented; and
5. All additional statutory and regulatory requirements.



POLICY GUIDE

PROGRAM
2200/page 3 of 5
Curriculum Content

In accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:8-2, the Board shall be responsible for the review and continuous improvement of curriculum and instruction based upon changes in knowledge, technology, assessment results, and modifications to the NJSLs pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.4(a). The Board shall design curriculum that is comprehensive and meets the developmental needs of students at each grade level through complete alignment with the NJSLs. The curriculum shall be designed to prepare students for success in higher education, careers, and civic life by addressing essential academic subjects, fostering critical thinking, promoting social and emotional growth, and providing opportunities for creativity and contextual learning. The Board shall include interdisciplinary connections throughout the curriculum at every grade level in the district.

The Board shall annually approve a list of all programs and courses that comprise the district's curriculum and shall approve any subsequent changes in the curriculum in accordance with Policy 2220. The Superintendent or designee shall develop a procedure to address and eliminate any possible bias in the curriculum as programs, courses of study, and instructional materials that comprise the district's curriculum shall be designed to eliminate discrimination on the basis of any of the protected categories listed at N.J.A.C. 6A:7-1.1(a) and promote understanding and mutual respect between children.

In accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.4(d), the Board shall provide educators with the time and resources to develop, review, and enhance contextual learning, supportive curricula, and instructional tools for helping students develop required knowledge and skills. The tools shall include, but are not limited to:

1. Curriculum designed and implemented to meet grade or grade-level expectations and graduation requirements;
2. List of core instructional and supplemental materials, including grade level-appropriate texts and decodable texts for emergent readers;
3. Integrated accommodations and modifications for students with disabilities; MLs; students identified as gifted and talented; students not at grade-level proficiency; and students with 504 plans;
4. Assessments, including, formative; summative; benchmark; and alternative assessments;



POLICY GUIDE

PROGRAM
2200/page 4 of 5
Curriculum Content

5. Universal literacy screeners and related instructional materials, as appropriate and as defined at, and required pursuant to, N.J.S.A. 18A:6-142. through 18A:6-150.;
6. Pacing guides; and
7. Opportunities for interdisciplinary connections and contextual learning.

The Superintendent shall establish an in-district team to develop a corrective action plan if the district is found to be in noncompliance with N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3. The in-district team shall consist, at a minimum, of district administrators, curriculum supervisor(s), and educators certified in one or more of the identified areas of noncompliance.

The corrective action plan shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1. The curricular, policy, or programmatic changes to be implemented, including, but not limited to, changes to curriculum frameworks and other required course revisions;
2. The individual(s) responsible for addressing each change identified at N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.5(e)1. and 1. above;
3. Specific timelines for the completion of each change identified at N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.5(e)1. and 1. above; and
4. Alignment with, and incorporation of or references to, the relevant provisions of all applicable State and Federal plans.

Within sixty days of the district's receipt of the Commissioner's written notification pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.5(c), the Superintendent shall present the corrective action plan to the Board for approval.

1. The Board shall review and approve the corrective action plan.
2. The Superintendent shall submit to the Commissioner, or the Commissioner's designee, the corrective action plan approved by the Board.



POLICY GUIDE

PROGRAM
2200/page 5 of 5
Curriculum Content

The Commissioner, or the Commissioner's designee, shall review the corrective action plan and notify the Superintendent if the plan is acceptable. The Superintendent shall implement the corrective action plan within thirty days of the Commissioner's written notification pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.5(g). The Commissioner, or the Commissioner's designee, shall review and verify the district's implementation of the corrective action plan.

When a corrective action plan is not submitted, it is determined by the Commissioner, or the Commissioner's designee, to be unacceptable, or it is not implemented, the Commissioner shall notify the Superintendent of the action(s) that the Commissioner intends to take pursuant to State law, rules, and regulations.

N.J.S.A. 18A:6-142. through 18A:6-150.;
18A:35-35.

N.J.A.C. 6A:8-3.1; 6A:8-3.2; 6A:8-3.3; 6A:8-3.4; 6A:8-3.5

Adopted: July 21, 2026



2361 ACCEPTABLE USE OF COMPUTER NETWORKS/COMPUTERS AND RESOURCES
(M)2361 ACCEPTABLE USE OF COMPUTER NETWORKS/COMPUTERS AND RESOURCES
(M)

[See **POLICY ALERT Nos. 137, 157 and 197**]

M

The Board of Education recognizes as new technologies shift the manner in which information is accessed, communicated, and transferred; these changes will alter the nature of teaching and learning. Access to technology will allow students to explore databases, libraries, Internet sites, and bulletin boards while exchanging information with individuals throughout the world. The Board supports access by students to these information sources but reserves the right to limit in-school use to materials appropriate for educational purposes. The Board directs the Superintendent to effect training of teaching staff members in skills appropriate to analyzing and evaluating such resources as to appropriateness for educational purposes.

The Board also recognizes technology allows students access to information sources that have not been pre-screened by educators using Board approved standards. The Board therefore adopts the following standards of conduct for the use of computer networks and declares unethical, unacceptable, or illegal behavior as just cause for taking disciplinary action, limiting or revoking network access privileges, and/or instituting legal action.

The Board provides access to computer networks/computers for educational purposes only. The Board retains the right to restrict or terminate student access to computer networks/computers at any time, for any reason. School district personnel will monitor networks and online activity to maintain the integrity of the networks, ensure their proper use, and ensure compliance with Federal and State laws that regulate Internet safety.

Standards for Use of Computer Networks

Any individual engaging in the following actions when using computer networks/computers shall be subject to discipline or legal action:

- A. Using the computer networks/computers for illegal, inappropriate or obscene purposes, or in support of such activities. Illegal activities are defined as activities that violate Federal, State, local laws and regulations. Inappropriate activities are defined as those that violate the intended use of the networks. Obscene activities shall be defined as a violation of generally accepted social standards for use of publicly owned and operated communication vehicles.
- B. Using the computer networks/computers to violate copyrights, institutional or third party copyrights, license agreements or other contracts.
- C. Using the computer networks in a manner that:

POLICY GUIDE

STRAUSS ESMAY ASSOCIATES

PROGRAM

2361 ACCEPTABLE USE OF COMPUTER NETWORKS/COMPUTERS AND RESOURCES (M)

1. Intentionally disrupts network traffic or crashes the network;
2. Degrades or disrupts equipment or system performance;
3. Uses the computing resources of the school district for commercial purposes, financial gain, or fraud;
4. Steals data or other intellectual property;
5. Gains or seeks unauthorized access to the files of others or vandalizes the data of another person;
6. Gains or seeks unauthorized access to resources or entities;
7. Forges electronic mail messages or uses an account owned by others;
8. Invades privacy of others;
9. Posts anonymous messages;
10. Possesses any data which is a violation of this Policy; and/or
11. Engages in other activities that do not advance the educational purpose for which computer networks/computers are provided.

Internet Safety Protection

As a condition for receipt of certain Federal funding, the school district shall be in compliance with the Children's Internet Protection Act, the Neighborhood Children's Internet Protection Act, and has installed technology protection measures for all computers in the school district, including computers in media centers/libraries. The technology protection must block and/or filter material and visual depictions that are obscene as defined in Section 1460 of Title 18, United States Code; child pornography, as defined in Section 2256 of Title 18, United States Code; are harmful to minors including any pictures, images, graphic image file or other material or visual depiction that taken as a whole and with respect to minors, appeals to a prurient interest in nudity, sex, or excretion; or depicts, describes, or represents in a patently offensive way, with respect to what is suitable for minors, sexual acts or conduct; or taken as a whole, lacks serious literary, artistic, political, or scientific value as to minors.

This Policy also establishes Internet safety policy and procedures in the district as required in the Neighborhood Children's Internet Protection Act. Policy 2361 addresses access by minors to inappropriate matter on the Internet and World Wide Web; the safety and security of minors when using electronic mail, chat rooms, and other forms of direct electronic communications;

POLICY GUIDE

STRAUSS ESMAY ASSOCIATES

PROGRAM

2361 ACCEPTABLE USE OF COMPUTER NETWORKS/COMPUTERS AND RESOURCES (M)

unauthorized access, including “hacking” and other unlawful activities by minors online; unauthorized disclosures, use, and dissemination of personal identification information regarding minors; and measures designed to restrict minors’ access to materials harmful to minors.

Notwithstanding blocking and/or filtering the material and visual depictions prohibited in the Children’s Internet Protection Act and the Neighborhood Children’s Internet Protection Act, the Board shall determine other Internet material that is inappropriate for minors.

In accordance with the provisions of the Children’s Internet Protection Act, the Superintendent of Schools or designee will develop and ensure education is provided to every student regarding appropriate online behavior, including students interacting with other individuals on social networking sites and/or chat rooms, and cyberbullying awareness and response.

The Board will provide reasonable public notice and will hold one annual public hearing during a regular monthly Board meeting or during a designated special Board meeting to address and receive public community input on the Internet safety policy - Policy and Regulation 2361. Any changes in Policy and Regulation 2361 since the previous year’s annual public hearing will also be discussed at a meeting following the annual public hearing.

The school district will certify on an annual basis, that the schools, including media centers/libraries in the district, are in compliance with the Children’s Internet Protection Act and the Neighborhood Children’s Internet Protection Act and the school district enforces the requirements of these Acts and this Policy.

Standards for the Use of AI

The Board of Education recognizes the use of artificial intelligence (AI) may result in increased and enhanced learning opportunities for students in the school district and creates productivity for staff. The Board adopts this Policy to provide guidelines and expectations for student and staff use of generative AI.

For the purpose of this Policy, “AI” means all types of generative AI technologies that create new content or outputs from a prompt to produce text, images, videos, or music.

For the purpose of this Policy, “AI tools” means software applications and platforms that utilize AI technologies to perform specific tasks and solve problems that typically require human intelligence.

To ensure the responsible use of AI and to maintain academic integrity, students and staff shall be required to comply with the district’s AI Handbook as developed by stakeholder groups. A copy of the Handbook shall be provided to all staff in September of each school year. Any use of AI outside of scope of the handbook shall be addressed using appropriate discipline (i.e. violation of academic integrity, bullying, illegal content creation, etc.).

POLICY GUIDE

STRAUSS ESMAY ASSOCIATES

PROGRAM

2361 ACCEPTABLE USE OF COMPUTER NETWORKS/COMPUTERS AND RESOURCES (M)

Consent Requirement

No student shall be allowed to use the school districts' computer networks/computers and the Internet unless they have filed with the Principal or designee a consent form signed by the student and his/her parent(s) or legal guardian(s).

Violations

Individuals violating this Policy shall be subject to the consequences as indicated in Regulation 2361 and other appropriate discipline, which includes but are not limited to:

1. Use of the network only under direct supervision;
2. Suspension of network privileges;
3. Revocation of network privileges;
4. Suspension of computer privileges;
5. Revocation of computer privileges;
6. Suspension from school;
7. Expulsion from school; and/or
8. Legal action and prosecution by the authorities.

N.J.S.A. 2A:38A-3

Federal Communications Commission: Children's Internet Protection Act

Federal Communications Commission: Neighborhood Children's Internet Protection Act

Adopted: July 21, 2026

POLICY GUIDE

PROGRAM
2411/page 1 of 6
Career Education and Academic Guidance
Counseling
Apr 26
M

[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 209, 232, and 237]

2411 CAREER EDUCATION AND ACADEMIC GUIDANCE COUNSELING

The Board of Education shall develop and implement a comprehensive system for the delivery, to all students, of guidance and academic counseling that facilitates career awareness, exploration, and preparation pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:8-6.1.

The words and terms used in this Policy shall have the meanings as defined in N.J.A.C. 6A:8-1.3.

A. Comprehensive System of Guidance and Academic Counseling

1. The system for the delivery, to all students, of guidance and academic counseling that facilitates career awareness, exploration, and preparation shall:
 - a. Be consistent with the New Jersey Student Learning Standards (NJSLS);
 - b. Take into consideration the 2019 American School Counselor Association's National Standards for School Counseling Programs, incorporated herein by reference, as amended and supplemented;
 - c. Be infused throughout the curriculum as appropriate for all students;
 - d. Be supported by professional learning programs;
 - e. Provide developmental career guidance and academic counseling, aligned with the NJSLS, designed to:
 - (1) Assist students in making and implementing informed educational and career choices, including opportunities to change career focus;



POLICY GUIDE

PROGRAM
2411/page 2 of 6

Career Education and Academic Guidance Counseling

- (2) Support students' academic attainment, career development, and personal/social development; and
- (3) Develop students' understanding of the relationships among academic attainment, career development, and personal/social development; and
- f. Specify the delivery format, which may include:
 - (1) An integrated curriculum that is based on the NJSLs and provides students with the opportunity to engage in contextual learning, service learning, and/or work-based learning to acquire information about their career interests and/or take advanced coursework linked to their career interests; and/or
 - (2) Specialized programs that reflect the needs of students and the community.

B. Students With Disabilities

For students with disabilities beginning at age fourteen or younger, if determined appropriate by the IEP team, the Board shall ensure that career guidance and academic counseling are coordinated with transition services provided in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:14-3.7.

C. Fulfillment of the NJSLs

- 1. In fulfillment of the NJSLs, the Board shall develop and implement the following for all students:
 - a. Curriculum and instructional methods that:
 - (1) Include the integration of technological literacy, consistent with the NJSLs;



POLICY GUIDE

PROGRAM

2411/page 3 of 6

Career Education and Academic Guidance Counseling

- (2) Include the integration of information literacy, consistent with the NJSLs and delivered in partnership by school library media specialists and classroom educators, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:7F-4.4. through 18A:7F-4.7.;
 - (3) Provide an understanding of the career applications of knowledge and skills learned in the classroom; and
 - (4) Provide opportunities to apply knowledge and skills learned in the classroom to real or simulated career challenges.
- b. A system of career development activities that:
- (1) Offers the opportunity to more fully explore career interests that are linked to the NJSLs, pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:19 – Career and Technical Education Programs and Standards;
 - (2) Provides the appropriate format for offering career-development activities based on school district resources, community needs, and student interest;
 - (3) Identifies the delivery format, which may include:
 - (a) An integrated curriculum that is based on the NJSLs and provides students the opportunity to acquire information about their career interests and/or take advanced coursework linked to their career interests; or
 - (b) Specialized programs that reflect the needs of students and the community; and
 - (4) Instills the concept of the need for continuous learning throughout life.



POLICY GUIDE

PROGRAM
2411/page 4 of 6

Career Education and Academic Guidance Counseling

~~{For Districts with High Schools Only}~~

~~D. — Work Based Learning Experiences~~

~~1. — The Board shall offer high school students the opportunity to more actively explore career interests by participating in work-based learning experiences aligned to the NJSLs.~~

~~a. — Work-based learning experiences shall give students opportunities to demonstrate and apply academic knowledge in authentic settings and to develop career and personal/social goals.~~

~~b. — Students may voluntarily select work-based learning experiences that:~~

~~(1) — Are co-curricular or extra-curricular activities; and~~

~~(2) — Take place within the district, at a work site, or in the community, in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:19-6.4.~~

~~c. — The Board shall ensure students participating in school-sponsored external work-based learning experiences, either paid or unpaid:~~

~~(1) — Are supervised by school personnel, in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:9B-14.19 and 14.20; and~~

~~(2) — Are in approved programs compliant with Federal and State law.~~

~~E. — Enrollment in College Courses~~

~~1. — The Board shall develop, implement, and regularly evaluate strategies that identify, support, and encourage students from diverse backgrounds to enroll in and succeed in college courses pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:8-6.2.~~



POLICY GUIDE

PROGRAM
2411/page 5 of 6

Career Education and Academic Guidance Counseling

2. ~~The Board may enter into a dual enrollment agreement with one or more public institutions of higher education, in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:61C-10., to increase the availability of college level instruction for high school students.~~
3. ~~Credits earned by students shall be accepted at all New Jersey public higher education institutions, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:61C-11.~~
4. ~~The Board may participate in the Twelfth Grade Postsecondary Transition Year Pilot Program, pursuant to P.L. 2023, c.272, through a competitive grant award contingent upon available funds held within the Innovation Dual Enrollment II Fund.]~~

F. Guidance and Academic Counseling

The Board's comprehensive system for the delivery, to all students, of guidance and academic counseling that facilitates career awareness, exploration, and preparation shall

Choose only one of the following alternatives:

- ☐ be conducted entirely by teaching staff members certified as school counselors.
- ☒ include the services of teaching staff members certified as school counselors and other designated teaching staff members.
- ☐ be the responsibility of the classroom teacher, who may draw upon the services of other, more specialized staff members as required.
- ☐ involve the coordinated efforts of all teaching staff members under the leadership of certified school counselor(s).

G. Evaluation

1. The program of career education and academic counseling will be reviewed annually to determine its strengths and weaknesses. The following information to be reviewed may include, but is not limited to:



POLICY GUIDE

PROGRAM
2411/page 6 of 6

Career Education and Academic Guidance Counseling

- a. An annual record of graduate placements in post-secondary situations;
- b. Assessments of past graduates as to the effectiveness of guidance services received in the high school;
- c. Results of surveys of parents and staff evaluations of guidance services;
- d. Analysis of the effectiveness of outside referrals;
- e. Assessments by persons not employed in the school district and experts in the field of career education and academic counseling;
- f. Personal evaluations of the career education and academic counseling staff members to identify weaknesses in the administration of the program; and
- g. Any additional information that assists in determining the strengths and weaknesses of the career education and academic counseling program in the district.

N.J.S.A. 18A:7F-4.4. through 18A:7F-4.7.;
18A:61C-10.; 18A:61C-11.

N.J.A.C. 6A:7-1.1; 6A:7-1.3; 6A:7-1.7; 6A:8-6.1; 6A:8-6.2;
6A:19-1.1 et seq.

Adopted: July 21, 2026



3324 RIGHT OF PRIVACY

[See **POLICY ALERT Nos. 196 and 231**]

The Board of Education will provide facilities and school district-owned property to assist teaching staff members in their job responsibilities or for the teaching staff members' convenience. These facilities or district-owned property may include, but are not limited to, an office, a storage closet, a filing cabinet, a locker, and/or a desk. The Principal or designee may provide a teaching staff member with exclusive use and access to such facilities or school district-owned property or may require the facility or school district-owned property be shared with other staff members. The teaching staff member may be provided a lock or key by the school district or may secure the facility or school district-owned property using their own locking device with permission from the Principal or designee.

Teaching staff members should be aware their expectation of privacy in these facilities and/or the school district-owned property provided by the Board of Education is reduced by virtue of actual office practices and procedures, for searches conducted pursuant to an investigation of work-related employee misconduct, or by school district policies or regulations. In addition, teaching staff members shall have a reduced expectation of privacy in these facilities and school district-owned property if there is reasonable suspicion the teaching staff member is violating a law or school policy. Teaching staff members shall be on notice this reduced expectation of privacy may result in such facilities and/or school district-owned property being searched without a search warrant. In order to avoid exposing personal belongings to such a search, teaching staff members are discouraged from storing personal papers and effects in these facilities or school district-owned property.

The Board prohibits any audio or video recording of a teaching staff member or student by any student; other school staff member; visitor; or any other person while a teaching staff member is performing their Board-assigned job responsibilities without the prior written approval of the teaching staff member's Principal or supervisor. In addition to protecting the privacy rights of all teaching staff members, such recordings may violate the privacy rights of students and teaching staff members and can be disruptive to the educational program. The teaching staff members' Principal or supervisor's prior approval for a person to make an audio or video recording of a teaching staff member or a school-sponsored activity is not required for a school-sponsored activity that is open to parents, family members, or other members of the public to attend. Such activities include, but are not limited to: curricular activities; co-curricular activities; athletic events; student programs; or any other school-sponsored activity.

A person requesting prior approval to audio or video record a teaching staff member or student that is not permitted in accordance with the provisions of this Policy, must submit a written request to the Principal. The Principal will review the written request and provide the requester with a written decision. If a written approval is not provided by the Principal to the person submitting the request prior to the requested recording date or event, the request shall be deemed denied and the audio or video recording shall not be permitted.

POLICY GUIDE

STRAUSS ESMAY ASSOCIATES

TEACHING STAFF MEMBERS

3324 RIGHT OF PRIVACY

Any person making an audio or video recording in violation of the provisions of this Policy shall be required to immediately cease making the recording to avoid violating the privacy rights of others. Any teaching staff member found to have violated the provisions of this Policy may be subject to discipline.

Adopted: July 21, 2026

POLICY GUIDE

STRAUSS ESMAY ASSOCIATES

TEACHING STAFF MEMBERS

3340 GRIEVANCE

3340 GRIEVANCE

The Board of Education shall develop and practice reasonable and effective means for the resolution of disputes that may arise in the employment of teaching staff members not covered by the terms of a negotiated agreement.

The Board directs that any grievance not provided for by negotiated agreement be resolved by submission to the following grievance procedure, which is designed to promote proper and equitable settlement of grievances at the lowest appropriate level and to facilitate an orderly process for the resolution of grievances.

For the purposes of this policy, "grievance" means an unresolved problem concerning the application or interpretation by an officer or employee of this district of law, regulations of the State Board of Education, the bylaws or policies of the Board, or the administrative regulations of the Superintendent; "grievant" is a district employee who alleges a grievance or the employee's representative; "party" means the grievant or any person named in the grievance as allegedly having violated a law, bylaw, policy, or regulation; and "day" means a school day.

If the same or substantially the same alleged grievance is made by more than one employee, a single grievant may process the grievance through the grievance procedure on behalf of all grievants. The names of all the grievants will appear on all documents related to the settlement of the grievance. A grievant may be represented or accompanied at any time by a person whom the grievant chooses.

A grievant may use personal leave time when it becomes necessary to process a grievance during school hours. A grievance that arises late in the school term will be submitted to an expedited process in order that the grievance may be resolved as soon after the school term as possible. There will be no reprisal of any kind taken against any employee or employee's representative for participation in a grievance.

All documents, communications, and records regarding the processing of a grievance will be filed in a separate grievance file and will not be kept in the personnel file of any of the participants of the grievance.

Any alleged grievance should, at the first instance, be discussed in one or more private, informal conferences between the parties involved or between the grievant and his/her immediate supervisor. A grievance not resolved in one or more such private meetings may be processed in accordance with the following procedure.

Level One

Within three working days of the occurrence of the act or omission giving rise to the grievance, the grievant must present his/her grievance in writing to the grievant's immediate supervisor. The written document will be a clear, concise statement of the grievance and will include the law, rule, policy, or regulation that the grievant alleges to have been violated; the factual circumstances on

POLICY GUIDE

STRAUSS ESMAY ASSOCIATES

TEACHING STAFF MEMBERS

3340 GRIEVANCE

which the grievance is based; the person or persons involved; the decision, if any, rendered at the private conference; and the remedy sought. Any party to the grievance may request a personal conference with the supervisor in order to resolve the grievance.

Within seven working days the supervisor shall present a decision to the grievant in writing. If the supervisor does not respond during the time permitted, the grievant may appeal to the next level.

Level Two

A grievant not satisfied with a decision at Level One may appeal that decision in writing to the Superintendent within three working days after receipt of the decision or the expiration of the time during which the decision must be rendered. The written appeal will include a copy of the original grievance; the decision rendered, if any; the name of the grievant's representative, if any; and a clear, concise statement of the reasons for the appeal of the decision. Any party to the grievance may request a personal conference to discuss the grievance.

The Superintendent shall present a decision to the grievant within seven working days. If no decision is rendered within that time limit, the grievant may appeal to the next level.

Level Three

~~A grievant not satisfied with a decision at Level Two may appeal that decision in writing to the Superintendent within three working days after receipt of the decision or the expiration of the time during which the decision must be rendered. The written appeal to the Superintendent will include copies of the original grievance, the appeal of that grievance at Level Two, and the decision, if any, rendered at Level Two. Within ten working days after the delivery of the appeal, the Superintendent shall investigate the grievance, giving all persons who participate in Levels One and Two a reasonable opportunity to be heard.~~

~~Within seven working days of the presentation of the appeal, the Superintendent shall submit a decision in writing together with the reasons that support that decision to the grievant and any other party to the grievance. If the Superintendent does not render a decision within that time limit, the grievant may appeal to the next level.~~

Level Three

A grievant not satisfied with the Superintendent's decision may appeal that decision in writing to the Board within three working days after the receipt of the decision or the expiration of the time during which the decision must be rendered. The written appeal to the Board will include copies of the original grievance, the appeal of that grievance at Level Two, and the decisions, if any, rendered at Levels Three.

The Board shall schedule the grievance for hearing at a private session to be held within forty-five calendar days of the presentation of the appeal. The grievant shall be present at the hearing and may require the presence of a party to the grievance.

POLICY GUIDE

STRAUSS ESMAY ASSOCIATES

TEACHING STAFF MEMBERS

3340 GRIEVANCE

Within ten calendar days of the hearing, the Board shall submit its decision in writing together with reasons that support the decision to the grievant. A copy of the decision shall be given to the Superintendent and to any other party to the grievance.

The decision of the Board shall be final.

N.J.S.A. 34:13A-5.3

Adopted: July 21, 2026

3410 COMPENSATION

The Board of Education will establish the compensation for teaching staff members not covered by the terms of a negotiated agreement.

Part-Time Teaching Staff Members

Part-time teaching staff members will be compensated on the salary schedule appearing in the negotiated agreement for full-time teachers, prorated to their part-time service.

Substitute Teachers

Substitute teachers will be compensated by a per diem wage established annually by the Board.

A substitute teacher who will be employed for an entire school year as a long-term substitute beginning September 1 and ending June 30 will be paid at the appropriate experience and education step of the salary guide negotiated with the Superintendent.

A substitute teacher who has been employed in the same position for 20 school days will be compensated at the daily substitute rate. Commencing with the 21st day of service in that position, the substitute teacher shall be paid at the appropriate experience and education step of the salary guide negotiated with the Superintendent.

A substitute teacher who has been employed to replace a teacher for longer than 20 school days, has the appropriate instructional certificate, and is designated a long-term substitute will be offered a contract in order to ensure continuity of instructional services. Any such contract offered will clearly state that employment is as a substitute for a regular teacher.

The pay for a substitute teacher employed during summer school sessions, such as ESY, shall be based upon the current school year's daily substitute rate established by the Board.

Summer ESY Teachers

Summer school teachers will be compensated at the teacher's per diem rate based on the number of work days negotiated in the RTEA agreement. Summer school speech therapists are paid at a minimum rate of \$70/hr.

N.J.S.A. 18A:6-6; 18A:16-11; 18A:27-4; 18A:29-2

Adopted: July 21, 2026

5701 ACADEMIC INTEGRITY

[See **POLICY ALERT No. 234**]

The Board of Education is committed to require a high level of ethical standards for students in the school district that include honesty and integrity in all aspects of their academic program. The Board expects all students to embrace the highest standards of academic integrity in all assignments. Acts of academic dishonesty by students will not be accepted. Students are responsible for complying with the provisions of this Policy and may be subject to disciplinary action for any violation.

Students are expected to be honest in their studies and academic work. Students shall not engage in any of the following prohibited acts that include, but not be limited to:

1. Plagiarizing term papers, themes, essays, reports, images, take-home examinations, and other academic work required of a student in their education program. Plagiarism is presenting work from another source without full acknowledgment that it is not their own work;
2. The deliberate use of false information or the falsification of research or other findings with the intent to deceive. Fabrication includes, but is not limited to, citing information not taken from the source indicated; listing sources in a bibliography that are not used in the project; fabricating data or source information in experiments, research projects, or other academic exercises; and taking a test for another person or allowing others to take a test for one's self;
3. Providing false information to a teaching staff member in an academic assignment such as giving a false excuse for missing a deadline or falsely claiming to have submitted an assignment;
4. Cheating on examinations by any means and obtaining copies of an examination;
5. Preventing other students from completing their assignments including, but not limited to, removing pages from books, willfully disrupting the experiments or work of other students, misrepresenting the contributions of others in a group to give more credit to one particular student for one's personal gain; and compromising and/or damaging the school district's technology;
6. **Using generative artificial intelligence (AI) in violation of this Policy and the district's AI Handbook;**
7. Selling, for any fee, or other remuneration, prepare, offer to prepare, cause to be prepared, sell or offer for sale any term paper, thesis, dissertation, essay, report or other written recorded, pictorial, artistic or other assignment knowing, or under the

POLICY GUIDE

STRAUSS ESMAY ASSOCIATES

STUDENTS

5701 ACADEMIC INTEGRITY

circumstances having reason to know, that said assignment is intended for submission either in whole or substantial part under a student's name in fulfillment of the requirements for a diploma at any school or any educational institution in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:2-3.; or

8. Any other conduct determined by the Principal that compromises the academic integrity of a student's work.

Any violation of this Policy shall be addressed in accordance with Policy and Regulation 5600.

A student may appeal a violation of this Policy in accordance with Policy 5710.

Students shall be informed of the conduct prohibited by this Policy at the beginning of the school year.

N.J.S.A. 18A:2-3

Adopted: July 21, 2026

REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM

R 2418/Page 1 of 15

SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

R 2418 SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

It is the policy of the Board of Education that no qualified student with a disability will, solely on the basis of disability, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity sponsored by this Board. The Board will also comply with the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act through the implementation of Policy 2460 and Regulations 2460 through 2460.16.

A. Definitions

1. "Accommodation" means a change in the educational setting, instructional strategies, materials, and/or supplementary/related aids and services that does not significantly alter the content of the curriculum or level of expectation for a student's performance, but which allows the student to access the regular general education curriculum.
2. "Act" means the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.
3. "Aids and Services" means aids and services designed to meet the individual student's educational needs to the same extent as the needs of students without disabilities are met. 34 CFR §104.33
4. "Board" means the Board of Education of this school district.
5. "Complainant" means a parent of a student with a disability who files a grievance in accordance with the grievance procedure.
6. "Day" means either calendar or working day, as specified in the Act.
7. "Disability" means, with respect to an individual, that the individual meets one or more of the following three prongs:
 - a. A physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more of the major life activities of such individual;
 - b. A record of such an impairment; or
 - c. Being regarded as having such an impairment.



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM
R 2418/Page 2 of 15
SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

8. "District" means this school district.
9. "District 504 Coordinator" means the district official responsible for the coordination of activities relating to compliance with the Act.
10. "FAPE" means free appropriate public education. FAPE consists of the provision of regular or special education and related aids and services designed to meet the educational needs of a student with a disability to the same extent as the needs of non-disabled students are met.
11. "Grievance" means an unresolved problem concerning the interpretation or application of law and regulations regarding discrimination by reason of a disability by an officer or employee of this district.
12. "Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act" (IDEA) identifies eligible children and young adults who have specific types of disabilities and, thus, require special education and related services. If they qualify, students receiving services through IDEA may also be eligible for services under Section 504 and ADA.
13. "Major life activities" means those of central importance to daily life and include, but are not limited to, functions such as: caring for one's self, performing manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, eating, sitting, writing, standing, reaching, lifting, sleeping, bending, speaking, breathing, reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating, interacting with others, learning, and working. "Major life activities" also include physical or mental impairments that substantially limit the operation of a major bodily function, including, but not limited to: functions of the immune system, special sense organs and skin, normal cell growth, and digestive, genitourinary, bowel, bladder, neurological, brain, respiratory, circulatory, cardiovascular, endocrine, hemic, lymphatic, musculoskeletal, reproductive systems, and the operation of an individual organ within a body system.
28 CFR §35.108; 28 CFR §36.105
14. "Mitigating measures" means steps taken to eliminate or reduce the symptoms or impact of an impairment. "Mitigating measures"



include, but are not limited to: medication; medical equipment/appliances; mobility devices; low vision devices (not including ordinary eyeglasses or contact lenses); prosthetics (including limbs and devices); hearing aids, cochlear implants, or other implantable hearing devices; oxygen therapy equipment and supplies; the use of assistive technology; reasonable modifications or auxiliary aids or services; learned behavioral or adaptive neurological modifications; and psychotherapy, behavioral, or physical therapies. 42 U.S.C. 126 §12102

- a. Mitigating measures, must not be used when determining whether an impairment is a disability except for the use of corrective eyeglasses or contact lenses. Mitigating measures may be considered in assessing whether someone is entitled to reasonable accommodation or poses a direct threat.
15. "Physical or mental impairment" means any physiological disorder or condition such as, cosmetic disfigurement or anatomical loss affecting one or more body systems, such as neurological, musculoskeletal, special sense organs, respiratory (including speech organs), cardiovascular, reproductive, digestive, genitourinary, immune, circulatory, hemic and lymphatic, skin, and endocrine; or any mental or psychological disorder such as intellectual disability, organic brain syndrome, emotional or mental illness, and specific learning disabilities. 28 CFR §35.108(b)(2) and 28 CFR§36.105(b)4
- a. Physical or mental impairments may include, but are not limited to: contagious and noncontagious diseases and conditions; orthopedic, visual, speech, and hearing impairments; cerebral palsy; epilepsy; muscular dystrophy; multiple sclerosis; cancer; heart disease; diabetes; intellectual disability; emotional illness; dyslexia and other specific learning disabilities; Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD); Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) (whether symptomatic or asymptomatic); tuberculosis; drug addiction; and alcoholism.



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM

R 2418/Page 4 of 15

SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

- b. Physical or mental impairments do not include: transvestism; transsexualism; homosexuality or bisexuality; gender identity disorders; sexual behavior disorders; pedophilia; exhibitionism; environmental, cultural, and economic disadvantages; pregnancy; physical characteristics; personality traits or behaviors; normal deviations in height, weight, or strength; compulsive gambling; kleptomania; pyromania; and psychoactive substance use disorders resulting from current illegal use of drugs.
 - c. An impairment that is episodic or in remission may be considered a “disability” if it would substantially limit a major life activity when active.
 - d. Not all impairments are disabilities.
16. “Qualified student with a disability” means a student with a disability at the preschool, elementary, or secondary level, who is: (1) of an age at which students without disabilities are provided educational services; (2) of an age at which it is mandatory under State law to provide educational services to students with disabilities; or (3) a student to whom a State is required to provide a free appropriate public education under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).
17. “Record of such an impairment” means has a history of, or has been misclassified as having a mental or physical impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities.
18. “Regarded as having an impairment” means the individual establishes that he or she has been subjected to a prohibited action because of an actual or perceived physical or mental impairment, whether or not that impairment substantially limits or is perceived to substantially limit a major life activity.
- a. For this prong only, the public entity must demonstrate the impairment is or would be both transitory (lasting or expected to last six months or less) and minor to show an individual is not regarded as having such an impairment.
42 U.S.C. 126 §12102(3)(B)



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM

R 2418/Page 5 of 15

SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

- b. A public entity is not required to provide a reasonable modification to an individual meeting the definition of “disability” solely under the “regarded as” prong.
- 19. “Section 504” means Section 504 of the Act.
- 20. “Student” means an individual enrolled in any formal educational program provided by the school district.
- 21. “Substantially limits” means the extent to which the impairment limits a student’s ability to perform a major life activity as compared to most people in the general population, whether or not an individual chooses to forgo mitigating measures. 42 U.S.C. 126 §12102 (4); 28 CFR §35.108(d); 28 CFR §35.105(d) The rules of construction when determining whether an impairment substantially limits a student in a major life activity include:
 - a. That it is broadly construed in favor of expansive coverage, to the maximum extent permitted under the Act.
 - b. That it does not demand extensive analysis.
 - c. That it substantially limits one major life activity, but not necessarily other major life activities.
 - d. That it may be episodic or in remission, as long as the disability would substantially limit a major life activity when active.
 - e. That it need not prevent, or significantly or severely restrict, an individual from performing a major life activity.
 - f. That it requires an individualized assessment which does not create an “inappropriately high level of limitation” and is based upon the conditions, manner, or duration under which the individual can perform the major life activity 42 U.S.C. 12102(4)(B).
 - g. That it generally will not require scientific, medical, or statistical evidence (although such evidence can be required



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM

R 2418/Page 6 of 15

SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

where appropriate - evidence that can be considered may include statements or affidavits of affected individuals and school records).

- h. That the determination is made without regard to ameliorative effects of mitigating measures, except for the use of ordinary eyeglasses or contact lenses intended to fully correct visual acuity or eliminate refractive error. Non-ameliorative effects, such as the negative side effects of medication or a medical procedure, may also be considered.
- i. That the effects of an impairment lasting or expected to last less than six months can be substantially limiting for establishing a disability under the first two prongs: "actual disability" or "record of".

B. District 504 Coordinator - 34 C.F.R. §104.7(a)

- 1. The District 504 Coordinator will be responsible for the initial evaluation of all allegations, reasonable accommodations (if required), and re-evaluations.
- 2. The District 504 Coordinator will comply with the mediation and due process requirements pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:14-2.6 and 6A:14-2.7 where applicable in cases arising from Section 504.

C. Educational Program

- 1. General:
 - a. The Board will not, on the basis of a disability, exclude a student with a disability from a program or activity and will take into account the needs of such student in determining the aid, benefits, or services to be provided under a program or activity.
 - b. Identification for special education services under IDEA and accommodations under Section 504 are not mutually exclusive.



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM

R 2418/Page 7 of 15

SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

- c. Students not otherwise eligible for special education programs and/or related services pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:14-1 et seq. may be referred to the District 504 Coordinator by the parent or staff member.
- d. The Board will provide reasonable accommodation(s) to students with disabilities notwithstanding any program and/or related services required pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:14-1 et seq.

D. Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE) - 34 CFR §104.33

- 1. FAPE must be provided without cost to the student's parent, except for those fees imposed on a parent of a non-disabled student.
- 2. The district may place a student with a disability in or refer such student to a program other than one it operates as its means of carrying out the provisions of this Regulation.
 - a. The district will continue to maintain responsibility for ensuring the requirements of the Act are met in respect to any student with a disability so placed or referred.
 - b. The district will ensure adequate transportation to and from the program, provided at no greater cost than would be incurred by the parent if the student were placed in a program operated by the district.
 - (1) The administration will consider the proximity of any alternative setting to the student's home.
 - (2) If a public or private residential placement is necessary to provide FAPE to a student with a disability, the placement, including non-medical care, room, and board, shall be provided at no cost to his/her parent.

E. Evaluation and Placement - 34 CFR §104.35



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM

R 2418/Page 8 of 15

SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

1. The Board will establish standards and procedures for initial evaluations and periodic re-evaluations of students who need or are believed to need special education and/or related services on the basis of disability.
 - a. Section 504 evaluations may encompass record and work sample review; direct observation in the natural setting; interviews with the student, parent, and school personnel; and/or administration of assessment measures. They do not include independent evaluations.
 - b. It may be determined that additional data is required, including the administration of formal standardized instruments and data on conditions in remission or episodic in nature. Tests and other evaluation materials must meet the following criteria:
 - (1) Validated for the specific purpose for which they are used and administered by trained personnel;
 - (2) Tailored to assess specific areas of educational need and not merely those designed to provide a single intelligence quotient; and
 - (3) Accurately reflect aptitude or achievement or whatever else the tests purport to measure, rather than the student's impaired sensory, manual, or speaking skills (unless the test is designed to measure these particular factors).
2. In interpreting evaluation data and in making placement decisions, the district will:
 - a. Draw information from a variety of sources, including, but not limited to: aptitude and achievement tests, medical evaluations, teacher recommendations, physical condition, social and cultural background, and adaptive behavior;



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM

R 2418/Page 9 of 15

SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

- b. Establish procedures to ensure that information obtained from all such sources is documented and carefully considered;
 - c. Ensure that placement decisions are made by a group of persons, including persons knowledgeable about the student, the meaning of the evaluation data, and placement options; and
 - d. Ensure that placement decisions are made in conformity with this Regulation and 34 CFR §104.34.
3. The District 504 Coordinator will establish timelines for re-evaluations of students receiving reasonable accommodation(s). A parent may request a re-evaluation at any time upon written request to the District 504 Coordinator.
 4. Copies of requests for evaluation and related documents will be maintained in a designated Section 504 file folder placed in the student's cumulative record.

F. Section 504 and Special Education

1. A student who qualifies for Section 504 services may not qualify for special education under IDEA; likewise, a student who qualifies under IDEA may not qualify under Section 504.
2. A referral for a Section 504 evaluation may be made concurrently with a pending special education evaluation. In such instances, the Section 504 evaluation should be conducted during the same timeline utilized for the special education assessment. Generally, the Section 504 evaluation should be conducted in less than sixty days.
3. If a student is found eligible under Section 504 prior to the special education team's findings, a Section 504 Accommodation Plan will be developed pending the special education team's findings. If the student is then found eligible for special education, an Individualized Education Program (IEP) will be developed and the IEP team can incorporate into the IEP any accommodations/services provided in the Section 504 Accommodation Plan.



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM
R 2418/Page 10 of 15
SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

4. A separate Section 504 team meeting will be convened when a student is identified as eligible for special education and no longer requires accommodations/services under Section 504.
5. When an IEP team determines a student is not eligible or no longer eligible for special education, there may be circumstances when a Section 504 referral for evaluation may be appropriate and should be considered. The IEP team may document the student is being referred for a Section 504 evaluation, and the eligibility evaluation shall be addressed in a separate Section 504 team meeting.

G. Section 504 Accommodation Plan

1. The District 504 Coordinator will assist in organizing a team of individuals responsible for receiving referral documents; securing evaluation information; and determining eligibility and appropriate accommodations, related aids or services for eligible students with disabilities. The team must be comprised of people who:
 - a. Are knowledgeable about the student;
 - b. Understand the meaning of evaluation data; and
 - c. Are familiar with placement options.
2. The District 504 Coordinator, based on the evaluation of the student eligible for services under Section 504, will prepare a Section 504 Accommodation Plan which may include as relates to the student:
 - a. Name;
 - b. Date of birth;
 - c. Current educational placement;
 - d. Name of the District 504 Coordinator preparing the Section 504 Accommodation Plan;
 - e. Disabling condition:



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP
BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM
R 2418/Page 11 of 15
SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

- (1) Major life activity impaired;
 - (2) Educational impact; and
 - (3) Impact on related educational progress.
 - f. Accommodation (as appropriate):
 - (1) Physical and learning environment;
 - (2) Instructional;
 - (3) Behavioral;
 - (4) Evaluation;
 - (5) Medical; and/or
 - (6) Transportation.
 - g. Other:
 - (1) List of individuals participating in the development of the plan, along with their titles and the date(s) of their participation.
 - (2) Certification by the student's parent that he or she has participated in the development of the plan and provided consent to its implementation.
 - (3) A waiver of the fifteen days' notice prior to the implementation of the plan by the parent if the plan is to be implemented sooner than the fifteen days.
3. A Section 504 Accommodation Plan should not:
- a. Modify the curriculum;
 - b. Exempt a student from a course or subject required for graduation;



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM
R 2418/Page 12 of 15
SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

- c. Alter the level of expectation for a student's performance;
 - d. Provide an extended time accommodation only for standardized testing when it is not required as part of the regular program of evaluation;
 - e. Include any testing accommodations unless authorized by the testing agency; and
 - f. Assign responsibility for implementing Section 504 accommodations to another student.
4. A Section 504 Accommodation Plan should:
- a. Directly relate to a student's identified needs;
 - b. Be specific, measurable, and tailored to meet students' identified needs to allow for consistent implementation;
 - c. Be written to incorporate specific symptoms, behavior, or triggers that elicit implementation of the accommodation or service if required only occasionally; and
 - d. Clearly state how much extended time is required based upon a student's identified needs, if the Section 504 team determines such an accommodation is appropriate.
5. Students needing medication:
- a. Not all students needing medication administered by school staff will require a Section 504 Accommodation Plan. It is not necessary to qualify a student as having a disability that substantially limits a major life activity under Section 504 in order to provide a service that schools perform for all general education students.
 - b. A Section 504 referral with the potential for a subsequent Section 504 Accommodation Plan is appropriate when a student is found to have a disability that substantially limits a major life activity and needs medication administered on



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM

R 2418/Page 13 of 15

SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

a systematic basis to receive equal access to the educational program.

H. Nonacademic/Extracurricular Services - 34 CFR §104.37

1. Nonacademic and Extracurricular Services may include counseling, physical recreational athletics, transportation, health services, recreational activities, special interest groups or school clubs, and/or referrals to agencies which provide assistance to students with disabilities and student employment.
2. The Board and administration will ensure that students with disabilities are not counseled toward more restrictive career objectives than are nondisabled students with similar interests and abilities.
3. The Board will provide to students with disabilities equal opportunity as afforded nondisabled students for participation in physical education courses, athletics, and similar programs and activities.
 - a. The district may offer students with disabilities physical education and athletic activities that are separate or different from those offered to nondisabled students only if the separation or differentiation is consistent with the requirements of 34 CFR §104.34 and only if no student with a disability is denied the opportunity to compete or to participate.

I. Grievance Procedure - 34 CFR §104.7(b)

1. This grievance procedure shall apply to a student with a disability alleging discrimination under the provisions of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.
2. The parent who believes his or her child has a valid basis for a grievance under Section 504 shall **may** file an informal complaint in writing with the District 504 Coordinator stating the specific facts of the grievance and the alleged discriminatory act. **The complainant may request mediation and due process in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:14-2.6 and 2.7**



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM

R 2418/Page 14 of 15

SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

3. The District 504 Coordinator will make reasonable efforts to resolve the matter informally by reviewing the grievance with appropriate staff including, but not limited to: the Principal, Child Study Team staff, and/or classroom teacher(s).
4. The District 504 Coordinator will investigate and document the complaint including dates of meetings, dispositions, and date(s) of dispositions. The District 504 Coordinator will provide a written decision to the complainant within seven working days of the written complaint. **If the parent is dissatisfied with the decision of the 504 Coordinator and wants to challenge it, mediation or due process may be sought in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:14-2.6 and 2.7.**
5. ~~If the complainant is not satisfied with the District 504 Coordinator's written decision, the complainant may appeal the decision in writing, setting out the circumstances that give rise to the alleged grievance. This written appeal must be filed with the District 504 Coordinator within three working days of the complainant's receipt of the written decision. The written appeal must state the basis for the appeal and the remedy sought by the complainant.~~
6. ~~The District 504 Coordinator will appoint a qualified hearing officer within seven working days of the receipt of the written appeal. The hearing officer will conduct a hearing within seven working days of receipt of the written appeal. The hearing officer will give the parent a full and fair opportunity to present evidence relevant to the issues raised under the initial grievance. The parent may, at his or her own expense, be assisted or represented by individuals of their choice, including legal counsel. The hearing officer will present a written decision to the District 504 Coordinator and aggrieved individual within seven working days of the hearing.~~
7. ~~The complainant may file a written appeal to the Board if not satisfied with the hearing officer's decision provided the written appeal is submitted to the Superintendent within three working days of the complainant's receipt of the hearing officer's written~~



REGULATION

READINGTON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM
R 2418/Page 15 of 15
SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 (M)

~~decision. The Board may, but is not required to, conduct a Board hearing on the appeal.~~

8. The complainant may request mediation and due process in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:14-2.6 and 2.7 if unsatisfied with the written decision of the Board. If specifically requested by the parent, the aforementioned N.J.A.C. 6A:14-2.6 and 2.7 grievance procedures must be followed.

Issued: 28 March 2017

Adopted: July 21, 2026

